1982

K.L.C. Inc. v. Ron McLean et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This Appeal is taken from an Order entered by the Honorable G. Hal Taylor, Third District Court for Salt Lake County, dismissing this case with prejudice for lack of prosecution.

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This case is an action to recover money allegedly misappropriated from a corporation. The counterclaim asks for an accounting of corporation assets.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

On October 15, 1981, the Court entered an Order dismissing this case with prejudice for lack of prosecution. The Order was based on a Motion filed September 4, 1981 and arguments before the Court on October 5, 1981.

Defendant-appellant seeks reversal of the Order dismissing the case so that the case may be remanded and a trial held in the matter.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This matter was initiated with the filing of a Complaint by plaintiff-respondent K.L.C. Incorporated in 1967, asking for \$9,696.00 allegedly appropriated from plaintiff by defendant (R. 2-3). Defendant-appellant answered the Complaint and filed a counterclaim against plaintiff-respondent K.L.C. Incorporated and against counter defendants-respondents Kern's Liquidation Center, Inc. and John Paras alleging a half ownership in the plaintiff corporation jointly with counter defendant John Paras, and asking for an accounting of corporation assets alleged to be worth at least \$155,346.91 (R.6-11).

Defendant-appellant's original attorney withdrew from the matter in the fall of 1968 (R.47), and defendant-appellant obtained new counsel (R.48).

In July of 1976, the parties entered into a stipulation agreeing to an accounting by defendant-appellant of counter defendants-respondents' books and to either dismissal of the action following the accounting or to further consideration of the matter by the court using the results of the accounting as a basis for judgment (R.53).

In March of 1980, defendant-appellant again obtained new counsel, a notice of substitution of counsel being dated March 13, 1980 (R.54).

On March 27, 1980, a Notice of Taking Deposition was served on plaintiff-respondent and counter defendants-respondents (R.55). The deposition of counter defendant-respondent John Paras was actually taken on July 18, 1980.

On September 10, 1980, interrogatories were served by defendant on counter defendant-respondent John Paras (R. 58-60).

On December 18, 1980, defendant-appellant filed its Request for Trial Setting (R.61).

On May 5, 1981, counter defendant-respondent John Paras served answers to defendant's interrogatories (R. 62-65).

On May 18, 1981, trial in this matter was set for October 22, 1981 by the Third District Court for Salt Lake County (R.66).

On August 28, 1981, defendant-appellant requested a jury trial and tendered the \$50.00 jury fee (R.67).

On September 4, 1981, plaintiff-respondent K.L.C. Incorporated and counter defendant-respondent John Paras filed a motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution (R.68).

On October 15, 1981, the Honorable G. Hal Taylor dismissed the action for lack of prosecution.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

The trial court erred and abused its discretion in dismissing this Action for lack of prosecution inasmuch as the case had been diligently prosecuted for a full year and one-half prior to the time that the Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Prosecution was filed, trial had been set, and defendant-appellant had expended time, effort, and money in prosecuting the case and in preparing for trial.

Although there are many Utah Supreme Court decisions dealing with dismissal of a case for lack of prosecution, none of these cases appear to treat factual issue similar to those raised here.

In the present case, although there appear to be substantial periods during which no action was taken by either side, there was diligent prosecution of the case

for a period of one and one-half years immediately from the date of dismissal to the date of the motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution. Thus, defendant-appellant retained new counsel after a period of time during which the case apparently lay dormant. New counsel immediately noticed the deposition of counter defendant John Paras. The deposition was taken, interrogatories were served and answered, and the case was set for trial. It was not until September 4, 1981, just a month and a half prior to the date scheduled for trial that plaintiff filed its motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution. The motion was not made until over three months had passed from the time trial was scheduled and followed defendant's request for a jury trial and payment of the required fee.

Defendant-appellant had gone to significant expense and effort to move the matter along by taking a deposition, serving interrogatories, and preparing for trial. Plaintiff-respondent and counter defendants-respondents had also expended time and effort in connection with the deposition and in answering interrogatories, and proceeded toward trial for a year and one-half before filing their motion for dismissal.

Although it may have been proper to dismiss this case for lack of prosecution on a motion made in March or April of 1980 immediately after action by defendant-appellant to move it forward, it is submitted that such dismissal is improper and a clear abuse of discretion after defendant-appellant's substantial efforts to move the case ahead and after the case had been set for trial.

While this Court has not previously addressed this issue, courts in several other states have. Thus, in a case before the Colorado Court of Appeals, Farber v. Green Shoe Mfg. Company, 596 P.2d 398 (1979), in which no action had been taken for over five years until a notice to set trial was filed and trial was set, and in which just prior to trial a motion to dismiss was filed and granted, the court said:

Here the motion to dismiss was made after the plaintiff had resumed his efforts to prosecute, had set the case for trial, and indeed, was ready for trial on the very day the motion was heard. Under the circumstances, the policy underlying the dismissal rule to prevent unreasonable delays is less compel-

ing than the policy favoring resolution of disputes on the merits. Denham v. Superior Court, 2 Cal. 3d 557, 86 Cal. Rpts. 65, 468 P.2d 193(1970). Consequently, we hold that the court erred in dismissing the action.

We adopt the rule stated in State v. McClaine, 261 Ind. 60, 300 N.E.2d 342 (1973):

'A motion to dismiss for want of prosecution should not be granted if the plaintiff resumes diligent prosecution of his claim, even though, at some prior period of time, he has been guilty of gross negligence.'

Similarly, the Supreme Court of Alabama in reviewing a lower court's dismissal for lack of prosecution said in Smith v. Wilcox County Board of Education, 365 So.2d 659 (1978):

Although there appeared to be a long period of inactivity from 1966 to 1973, nevertheless within the eleven months before the dismissal the defendants filed interrogatories, the parties reconstructed the record, and the plaintiff's attorney had tried to have a hearing set on the case.

and further on said:

...even where there has been a period of inactivity, present diligence has barred dismissal.

The Missouri Court of Appeals, in reversing a lower court's dismissal for lack of prosecution in Laurie v. Ezard, 595 S.W.2d 336 (1980), said:

A dismissal for failure to prosecute should not be based on remote, even if extended, periods of inactivity. Vonder Haar Concrete Company v. Edwards-Parker, Inc. supra, 561 S.W.2d at 139. In determining whether to dismiss a dormant case, we believe that the time a case has been on file and its prior inactivity may be considered. However, to dismiss a case for prior inactivity while it was being

pursued could cause many cases to be dismissed which should not be. Human nature being what it is, attorneys and parties may not always act in a diligent manner. Our examination of the cases cited by the parties and other cases leads us to believe that only in an unusual situation should a case be dismissed for prior inactivity, on a party's motion, at a time when it appeared to be prosecuted toward trial.

The Supreme Court of New Mexico in Dollison v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Company, 423 P.2d 426 (1966) held that, once a case had been set for trial, it was too late for a motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution.

Several states have formal rules which specify that a case can be dismissed for lack of prosecution if no action is taken in the case for more than a year. Even in these jurisdictions, if prosecution of the case is resumed prior to the time a motion to dismiss is made, motion is regarded as too late. Thus, the Supreme Court of Alaska in First National Bank of Fairbanks v. Taylor, 488 P.2d 1026 (1971) said:

In our view, the rule applies only where the motion to dismiss is filed before the period of the lapse is terminated by some affirmative action, that is where the last act in the record occurred more than one year prior to the motion to dismiss. Here the Bank's motion for pre-trial terminated the lapse, and the Motion for Summary Judgment and motion to set for trial were filed subsequent to the lapse and prior to Taylor's motion to dismiss.

and the District Court of Appeal of Florida, in Equity Capital Company v. 602 West 26 Corp. 223 So.2d 762 (1969), said:

The moving party must seek dismissal prior to resumption of affirmative action toward prosecution of the case (citations omitted).

Since defendants did not move for dismissal prior to July 29, 1968, the date plaintiff filed its motion for deficiency decree, and the court did not dismiss this suit on its own motion prior to that date, dismissal for failure to prosecute was improper.

Defendant-appellant submits that dismissal for failure to prosecute in this case was improper and that the order should be reversed. Since defendant-appellant

~~the defendant~~ prosecuted the case for over a year prior to the motion to dismiss, defendant-appellant should be allowed his day in court.

POINT TWO

The trial court erred and abused its discretion in dismissing this action for lack of prosecution, where during the period of time that it is alleged the lack of prosecution occurred, the party moving for dismissal could have taken action to move the litigation ahead to a final conclusion but did not do so.

In the present case, either plaintiff-respondent or counter defendants-respondents could have taken action to move the case to trial or to have the case dismissed, but neither did so.

This Court, in upholding the lower court in its refusal to dismiss a case for lack of prosecution in Department of Social Services v. Romero, 609 P.2d 1323 (1980), said:

The important fact is that the defendant himself did nothing to move the case forward, but appears to have been quite contented to let it lie dormant until it was reactivated by the plaintiff.

In Johnson v. Firebrand, 571 P.2d 1368 (1977), this Court reversed the lower court's dismissal for lack of prosecution and said:

As to the lack of prosecution, it seems that neither party had any active interest in the matter for nearly four years....Since either party could have brought the matter to a conclusion it is difficult to see why the plaintiff should be denied his claim to more than \$38,000 simply because counsel for plaintiff did not take a default judgment.

In Utah Oil Co. v. Harris, 565 P.2d 1135, (1977), this court said:

Turning now to the issue as to whether or not a lapse of 16 months in prosecuting a claim for relief is sufficient to support a dismissal with prejudice, this court has been active in that area and has held that where all of the litigants had power to

obtain relief and failed to do so, it is error to dismiss with prejudice.

and in Westinghouse Electric Supply Co. v. Paul W. Larsen Contractors, Inc., 544 P.2d 876 (1975), this court said:

Whether there is such justifiable excuse is to be determined by considering more factors than merely the length of time since the suit was filed. Some consideration should be given to the conduct of both parties, and to the opportunity each has had to move the case forward and what they have done about it...

Further in that case, this Court said:

It is indeed commendable to handle cases with dispatch and to move calendars with expedition in order to keep them up to date. But it is even more important to keep in mind that the very reason for the existence of courts is to afford disputants an opportunity to be heard and to do justice between them.

Here, plaintiff-respondent, the party who initiated the lawsuit, had the same opportunity that defendant-respondent did to move it along. It did not do so. Counter defendants-respondents also had such opportunity. They did not do so. Defendant-appellant submits that dismissal for lack of prosecution was improper.

CONCLUSION

Defendant-respondent had actively pursued prosecution of this case from March of 1980. It was not until September, 1981, that plaintiff-respondent and counter defendant-respondent moved to dismiss for lack of prosecution. This was long after trial had been scheduled and only a month and a half prior to trial. Where a party has taken action to pursue prosecution of a case, it is submitted that the case should not be dismissed for lack of prosecution even though there have been prior periods as to which such dismissal might have been proper. Further, where any party could have moved the action ahead, but none of them did so, it is believed improper to dismiss for lack of prosecution when one party actively moves forward.

The order dismissing this case for lack of prosecution should be reversed and the case remanded for trial.