1982

K.L.C. Inc. v. Ron McLean et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This case is an action to recover money misappropriated from plaintiff-respondent. The counterclaim asks for an accounting.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

On October 20, 1967, plaintiff filed suit against Ron McLean who entered a counterclaim.

On October 15, 1981, the Court entered an Order dismissing this case with prejudice for lack of prosecution.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The respondents submit the Order of the District Court dismissing the case with prejudice should be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 1967, Kearns Liquidation Center, Inc., filed suit against Ron McLean for payment on goods received by defendant. Defendant submitted an Answer, and Third-Party Complaint against plaintiff and John Paras in November, 1967.

Plaintiff and counter-defendant submitted Notice of Readiness for Trial on December 11, 1967.

Trial settings were made for December 12, 1968, February 13, 1969, and March 19, 1969, but no trial was ever held. A new trial date was set in 1976, but litigation was avoided on a stipulation prepared by defendant. The Stipulation provided that following defendant's accounting of plaintiff's business records, "the above-entitled matter may be dismissed or the results of the examination used as a basis for judgment pursuant to further consideration by the Court." (CR 53). Plaintiff entrusted its corporate books and records to defendant's attorney, Dwight L. King, Esq., for inspection and auditing. From that point, both sides dropped the matter as unworthy of any further action. Defendant produced no formal accounting as a basis for judgment. The plaintiff and counter-defendant have no knowledge of the present location

of the original corporate records. Defendant's third attorney received no records upon his predecessor's withdrawal.

Finally, in March of 1980, defendant again obtained new counsel. M.C. Morley, plaintiff Corporation's bookkeeper and an essential witness, had by this time passed away but Mr. John Paras did his best to respond during defendant's deposition on July 18, 1980. In spite of very diligent searching, plaintiff's Corporate records could not be found and this dearth of essential information is reflected in May 5, 1981 answers to defendant's interrogatories. (CR 62-65). As it became clear that it was impossible for the respondents to effectively prepare for trial, motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution was made. Upon argument before the Court on October 5, 1981, dismissal with prejudice was granted for lack of prosecution.

ARGUMENT

POINT I:

THE APPELLANTS HAVE NO BASIS FOR A CLAIM OF ERROR ON APPEAL BECAUSE DISMISSAL FOR FAILURE TO PROSECUTE WAS PROPER UNDER UTAH CASE LAW AND RULE 41(b) OF UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE.

Rule 41(b) of Utah Rules of Civil Procedure requires that "for failure of the plaintiff to prosecute...a defendant may move for dismissal of an action or of any claim against him." The plaintiff, or in this case the counter-plaintiff, has the responsibility to diligently prosecute

his claim. Serious delays in the prosecution of a claim can result in unfair prejudice to one side. The reason for the rule is that memories dim, evidence deteriorates and is lost over ten years and occasionally a key witness dies.

The State of Utah has a strong line of recent authority supporting dismissal in cases where litigation has remained dormant for an extended period of time. The key case under this line of authority is Westinghouse Electric Supply Company vs. Paul W. Larson Contractors, Inc., 544 P.2d 876 (Utah 1975). The Court examined the issue of whether granting the Motion to Dismiss with prejudice was an abuse of discretion. The Court indicates that the trial Court should have reasonable latitude of discretion in dismissing for failure to prosecute if a party fails to move forward according to the rules and directions of the Court without justifiable excuse. The Court outlines four factors for determining whether there is a justifiable excuse for delay: length of time, conduct of both parties, difficulty or prejudice to the moving party, whether injustice may result from dismissal.

In this case the suit has been pending for fourteen years and has remained dormant with no action at all for five years. This is not a case of unusually complicated discovery as in Westinghouse. In fact appellant offers no excuse for his inaction before and after 1976. Respondents

sought and were prepared for trial on many occasions. In particular respondents were prepared for trial several times in 1968 and also in 1976. But appellant avoided trial in 1976 by obtaining the stipulation found in the Record at 53. Pursuant to that stipulation, appellant took control of the corporate records but then lapsed into inaction again. He did not fashion a settlement on the basis of plaintiff's records or make any accounting as agreed. Both sides again dropped the matter as unworthy of further time and effort. The third factor considered in Westinghouse is prejudice from delay upon one side. In this case, the difficulties resulting from delayed prosecution are very evident. The corporate records cannot be found. It would appear that these records were last in the hands of respondent's attorney. A key witness who might have provided evidence from memory in the absence of records has passed away. These difficulties have made counter-defendant's trial preparation nearly impossible. In considering the fourth factor, the counter-plaintiff had all the corporate records in his hands in 1976 but didn't pursue his desired remedy. Now there are no records for an accounting and appellant's failure to act obviates any injustice from a dismissal.

While appellant offers no excuses for his delays over fourteen years he seeks relief from a default judgment which

would result in substantial prejudice and injustice to the adverse party. Appellant suggests that his diligence in preparing for trial in 1981 should cure his failures over the years prior to that time. Respondents sought dismissal only after a diligent, good faith effort to marshal information for trial. Must a defendant move for dismissal immediately in a case of unreasonable delay?

Rule 41(b) sets no deadline for the moving party to act; indeed, the Court retains inherent power to dismiss an action for failure to prosecute pursuant to its own motion. It can hardly be asserted that a defendant must, on pain of implied waiver, move within a certain time limit, when the Court may issue a dismissal order without any action whatsoever on the part of the parties.

Wilson v. Lambert, 613 P.2d 765, 768
(Utah 1980).

Wilson vs. Lambert is a case where dismissal for failure to prosecute was upheld on appeal. The complaint was filed in March, 1968, and the matter was set for trial in 1973, but the plaintiff's attorney was unable to handle the trial. Plaintiff vacated another trial date in 1977. More than nine years after the original complaint was filed, the Court issued, sua sponte, an order to the parties to appear and show cause why the action would not be dismissed because of failure to prosecute. Upon a hearing, the Court referred the matter to the trial calendar. Plaintiff began discovery procedures, but nine months later defendant filed a motion to dismiss for failure to diligently prosecute, which motion

was granted.

"There can be little argument regarding the propriety of the dismissal here appealed from. Plaintiff's predecessor in interest personally delayed the consideration of the denied applications by the lower Court from 1968 until the time of his death in 1975. Thereafter, plaintiffs, even following the approval of their purchase from Baldwin's estate by the probate Court, delayed sixteen months before even inaugurating discovery in the matter. No explanation justifying such delay is offered in the arguments or in the record".

613 P.2d 765, 768.

Just as in Wilson v. Lambert, this case was set for trial and counter-plaintiff engaged in discovery procedures.

Brasher Motor and Finance Company vs. Brown, 23 U.2d 247, 461 P.2d 464 (1969), is a failure of prosecution case wherein dismissal was upheld. In Brasher Motor, suit was filed and defendants filed a counterclaim. Justice Henriod writes that "everyone treated the litigation with a silent reverence accorded that which is interred---until, lo and behold, five and one-half years later the Browns, like Abou Ben Adhem, awoke from a deep dream of peace, and attempted to exhume and reactivate what for all intents and purposes appeared to have been a litigious corpse." The Court on its own motion dismissed the complaint and counterclaim. After a delay of five and one-half years with absolutely no action on either side, the Court indicated that "We believe and hold that in the instant case the trial Court did not abuse its discretion, but on the contrary acted with judicial propriety looking to the interests of all litigants

and in promoting their causes with reasonable dispatch, certainly in preventing indiscriminate jostling and clogging of Court calendars." 461 P.2d 464,465.

The case of Johnson v. Firebrand, 571 P.2d 1368 (Utah 1977) does not apply to this case. In Johnson, the moving party had not even filed an answer until making the motion to dismiss and the Court made much of this fact. "(I)n view of the fact that new counsel caused the case to be activated, it seems that the Court abused its discretion in dismissing the case on a motion to dismiss that was filed at the same time as the answer" (571 P.2d 1368, 1370). Utah Oil Co. v. Harris, 565 P2d 1135 (Utah 1977) is also distinguishable. The delay of 16 months was reasonably excusable in light of settlement efforts between the parties.

CONCLUSION

The dismissal for lack of prosecution in this case was well within the reasonable discretion of the Court because the policy considerations of Rule 41(b) were well served. The respondent has been substantially prejudiced by the fourteen year delay. Appellant's recent diligence can not cure that prejudice and Rule 41(b) sets no deadline for the moving party to act. It is respectfully submitted that this Court should affirm the order of the District Court.